
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO

Civil Action No.:   ___________________

RUBY ELAINE CULPEPPER,

Plaintiff,

v.

CITY OF CENTRAL, COLORADO, a home rule municipal corporation, and
COLORADO COACH TRANSPORTATION, LLC., a Colorado limited liability company,

Defendants.
                                                                                                                                                            

COMPLAINT
                                                                                                                                                            

Plaintiff, by and through undersigned counsel, hereby submits this Complaint for

violations of the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”), 42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq., and the

Colorado Anti-Discrimination Act (“CADA”), Colo. Rev. Stat. 24-34-601 et seq.

INTRODUCTION

1. The ADA was enacted in 1990 “[t]o establish a clear and comprehensive

prohibition of discrimination on the basis of disability.”  42 U.S.C. § 12101(b)(1).  Now, over

twenty years after the passage of the ADA, Defendants discriminate against individuals who use

wheelchairs  for mobility.  

2. Title II of the ADA specifically applies to public entities, 42 U.S.C. § 12131, et

seq., Title III of the ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 12181, et seq., and the CADA apply to public

accommodations.
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3. Titles II and III of the ADA prohibits discrimination in the “services, programs,

[and] activities of a public entity” and “full and equal enjoyment of the goods, services, facilities,

privileges, advantages, or accommodations of any place of public accommodation[,]”

respectively.  42 U.S.C. §§ 12132, 12182.

4. The CADA prohibits discrimination in the “the full and equal enjoyment of the

goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages, or accommodations of a place of public

accommodation . . . .”  Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-34-601(2).

5. Yet despite these clear statutory dictates, Defendant City of Central, Colorado

(“Central City”) and Defendant Colorado Coach Transportation, LLC (“CCT”) entered into a

contract to create the Central City Free Ride, a free shuttle service open to the general public that

operates on a fixed route in Central City and portions of Black Hawk, which discriminates

against individuals who use wheelchairs or motorized scooters for mobility.

6. Defendants’ contract requires that only one of two shuttles -- the smaller of the

two -- used for the service provide access to individuals who use wheelchairs or motorized

scooters.

7. In addition, on information and belief, Defendants stop using the smaller,

wheelchair accessible bus at approximately 6:00 p.m., although the inaccessible shuttle service

continues to operate for five to nine hours thereafter.

8. Plaintiff seeks an Order from this Court requiring Defendants to provide equal

access to the Central City Free Ride to individuals who use wheelchairs or motorized scooters
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for mobility, damages under Title II of the ADA and Colorado law, and recovery of reasonable

attorneys’ fees and costs.

JURISDICTION

9. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C.

§§ 1331 and 1343, and pursuant to its pendent jurisdiction over claims brought under the laws of

the State of Colorado.

10. Venue is proper within this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391.

PARTIES

11. Plaintiff Ruby Elaine Culpepper is substantially limited in the major life activity

of walking and uses a motorized wheelchair for mobility.  Ms. Culpepper is and was at all times

pertinent to the allegations in this Complaint a resident of the State of Colorado.

12. Defendant Central City is a Colorado home-rule municipal corporation, organized

pursuant to the Colorado State Constitution, Article XX, Section 6, and Title 31, Colorado

Revised Statutes..

13. Defendant CCT is a limited liability company, organized in the State of Colorado. 

CCT’s principal place of business is located at 2080 Pearl Howlett Rd., Longmont, Colorado

80504.

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

14. On December 21, 2010, Defendants entered into a contract “for the operation of a

transportation shuttle,” known as the Central City Free Ride.
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15. Although Defendants recite in the contract that Defendant CCT “will provide

Services subject to the requirements of the ADA[,]” Defendants then agreed that CCT “will

supply two buses licensed in the State of Colorado, one of which will have lift equipment that is

ADA accessible.  One vehicle shall carry up to 32 passengers and one vehicles shall carry up to

14 passengers plus wheel chair capacity.”

16. On information and belief, the buses Defendants utilize in the operation of the

Central City Free Ride were leased or purchased after August 25, 1990.

17. Defendants further agreed that the Central City Free Ride would operate as

follows:

a. November 1 through March 31: 10 a.m. to 10 p.m., Sundays through Thursdays’

and 10 a.m. to 2 a.m., Fridays and Saturdays.

b. April 1 through October 31: 10 a.m. to 12 a.m., Sundays through Thursdays; 10

a.m. to 2 a.m., Fridays and Saturdays.

18. On information and belief, Defendants stop utilizing the smaller -- and only

wheelchair accessible -- bus at 6:00 p.m each day.

19. On information and belief, Defendant Central City receives federal financial

assistance, including without limitation funds from the U.S. Departments of Justice and

Transportation.

20. On January 27, 2011, Ms. Culpepper visited Central City.

21. Ms. Culpepper waited at the Central City Free Ride stop outside of the Fortune

Valley casino for the Central City Free Ride.
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22. As the bus approached, Ms. Culpepper realized that the bus was not accessible.

23. Ms. Culpepper asked the driver of that bus if or when the accessible bus would

arrive, and the driver assured her that the accessible bus would arrive in approximately thirty

minutes.

24. Ms. Culpepper waited approximately two hours for the accessible bus to arrive,

although, during those two hours, several inaccessible Central City Free Ride buses came and

went.

25. On Friday, April 1, 2011, Ms. Culpepper and her caretaker, Patricia Harris,

visited Central City.

26. Ms. Culpepper and Ms. Harris noticed the Central City Free Ride stop near the

Fortune Valley casino and decided to ride the shuttle to Black Hawk in order to eat and enjoy the

gaming at the Isle of Capri casino.

27. As the shuttle approached, Ms. Culpepper noticed that the bus did not have a

wheelchair lift or ramp.

28. Ms. Culpepper asked Ms. Harris to ask the driver if an accessible bus would come

by, but the driver was unable to tell Ms. Harris.

29. Ms. Harris then asked the driver for a telephone number so she and Ms.

Culpepper could find out if an accessible bus would arrive.

30. Ms. Harris called the telephone number the driver had given her, got a recorded

message, and left a voice message.
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31. Nearly thirty minutes later, Ms. Harris got a call back and was informed that the

one accessible bus was in Golden, Colorado for an oil change and would be out of service

through the weekend.

32. The Isle of Capri casino is located in Black Hawk.

33. On information and belief, the only public transportation service that takes

individuals between Black Hawk and Central City is the Central City Free Ride.

34. The sidewalk leading from the Fortune Valley casino to Black Hawk, where the 

Isle of Capri casino is located, ends abruptly near Fortune Valley making it extremely diifficult

to navigate in a wheelchair.

35. Because she was denied access to the Central City Free Ride, and because

sidewalk did not provide an accessible route, in order for Ms. Culpepper to get to Isle of Capri,

she was required to travel in her wheelchair, in the street where traffic was.

36. Ms. Culpepper was fearful that she would be struck by a vehicle as she traveled in

the street from Fortune Valley in Central City to Isle of Capri in Black Hawk.

37. As Ms. Culpepper traveled in the street from Central City to Black Hawk, she was

nearly struck by passing traffic.

38. Ms. Culpepper made arrangements to return to Central City on April 12, 2011,

and, in anticipation of her trip, called the Central City Free Ride telephone number on April 11,

2011, to inquire into whether an accessible bus would be available.
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39. Ms. Culpepper spoke with Patrick Hardin, who informed her that the accessible

bus was undergoing repairs, but that Ms. Culpepper could contact Rocky Mountain Cab

Company for transportation.

40. Once she called Rocky Mountain Cab Company, Ms. Culpepper was informed

that it did not provide wheelchair accessible transportation.

41. When Ms. Culpepper returned to Central City the following day, and she was

again denied access to the Central City Free Ride and forced to travel in her wheelchair, in the

streets.

42. Although Ms. Culpepper desired to visit casinos in Black Hawk, because she was

denied access to the Central City Free Ride on April 12, 2011, she was forced to remain in

Central City.

43. Ms. Culpepper has been denied the full and equal enjoyment of Defendant CCT’s

goods, services, programs, privileges, facilities and accommodations.

44. Ms. Culpepper has been denied equal access to Defendant Central City’s

programs and services.

45. Ms. Culpepper would like to ride the Central City Free Ride, and would like to be

able to do so with friends and colleagues who use wheelchairs or scooters.

46. Ms. Culpepper will ride the Central City Free Ride if Defendants provide equal,

integrated service.

47. Ms. Culpepper has been deterred from riding the Central City Free Ride because

of the unequal, discriminatory service.
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48. In the absence of an injunction compelling Defendants to provide equal,

integrated service to individuals who use wheelchairs or motorized scooters for mobility,

Defendants will continue to discriminate against individuals who use wheelchairs or motorized

scooters, including Ms. Culpepper .

49. Ms. Culpepper has been damaged by Defendants’ discrimination and, in the

absence of the injunction sought herein, will continue to be discriminated against by Defendants.

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Central City’s Violations of Title II of the ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 12131, et seq.)

50.  Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all allegations set forth in this

Complaint as fully set forth herein.

51. Title II of the ADA provides that “no qualified individual with a disability shall,

by reason of such disability, be excluded from participation in or be denied the benefits of the

services, programs, or activities of a public entity, or be subject to discrimination by any such

entity.”  42 U.S.C. § 12132; 28 C.F.R § 35.130(a).

52. The U.S. Department of Justice (“DOJ”) regulations further counsel:

A public entity, in providing any aid, benefit, or service, may not, directly or
through contractual, licensing, or other arrangements, on the basis of disability –
(i) Deny a qualified individual with a disability the opportunity to participate in or
benefit from the aid, benefit, or service; (ii) Afford a qualified individual with a
disability an opportunity to participate in or benefit from the aid, benefit, or
service that is not equal to that afforded others . . . [or] (vii) Otherwise limit a
qualified individual with a disability in the enjoyment of any right, privilege,
advantage, or opportunity enjoyed by others receiving the aid, benefit, or service.

28 C.F.R. § 35.130(b)(1).
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53. Similarly, the U.S. Department of Transportation (“DOT”) regulations state that

“[n]o entity shall discriminate against an individual with a disability in connection with the

provision of transportation services.”  49 C.F.R. § 37.5(a).

54. Pursuant to the DOT regulations, every public entity operating a fixed route

system that purchases or leases a new, used or remanufactured bus after August 25, 1990, shall

ensure that the bus is “readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities, including

individuals who use wheelchairs.”  49 C.F.R. §§ 37.71; 37.73; 37.75.

55. The DOT regulations further provide:

When a public entity enters into a contractual or other arrangement or relationship
with a private entity to operate fixed route or demand responsive services, the
public entity shall ensure that the private entity meets the requirements of this part
that would apply to the public entity if the public entity itself provided the
service.

49 C.F.R. § 37.23(a).

56. Central City is a pubic entity.  42 U.S.C. § 12131(1).

57. Ms. Culpepper is a qualified individual with a disability.  42 U.S.C. § 12131(2).

58. Defendant Central City discriminates against Ms. Culpepper, and other qualified

individuals with disabilities who use wheelchairs or motorized scooters for mobility, by denying

her and them the opportunity to participate in or benefit from the aid, benefit, or service of the

Central City Free Ride because it failed to acquire a bus that was readily accessible to and usable

by individuals who use wheelchairs or motorized scooters for mobility.

59. Defendant Central City discriminates against Ms. Culpepper, and other qualified

individuals with disabilities who use wheelchairs or motorized scooters for mobility, by denying
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her and them the opportunity to participate in or benefit from the aid, benefit, or service of the

Central City Free Ride that is equal to others because it entered into a contract with CCT that

failed to ensure that both of the buses utilized in the operation of the Central City Free Ride are

readily accessible to and usable by them, and because, on information and belief, it stops

utilizing the only accessible bus at 6:00 p.m.

60. Defendant Central City discriminates against Ms. Culpepper, and other qualified

individuals with disabilities who use wheelchairs or motorized scooters for mobility, by limiting

their enjoyment of the rights, privileges, advantages, and opportunities enjoyed by others

receiving the aid, benefit, or service of the Central City Free Ride because it entered into a

contract with CCT that failed to ensure that both of the buses utilized in the operation of the

Central City Free Ride are readily accessible to and usable by her, and because, on information

and belief, it stops utilizing the only accessible bus at 6:00 p.m.

61. Defendant Central City discriminates against Ms. Culpepper, an other qualified

individuals with disabilities who use wheelchairs or motorized scooters for mobility, by failing

to ensure that CCT met the DOT regulations regarding the provision of a fixed route public

transportation system for individuals with disabilities that would apply to Central City if it

provided the service itself, including without limitation its obligation to utilize its accessible bus,

by failing to ensure that both buses it utilizes for the Central City Free Ride are readily

accessible to and usable by Ms. Culpepper, and by, on information and belief, ceasing operation

of the Central City Free Ride’s only accessible bus at 6:00 p.m.
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62. Defendant Central City’s violations of Title II of the ADA have harmed Ms.

Culpepper and will continue to harm Ms. Culpepper in the absence of the injunction sought

herein.

63. Ms. Culpepper has been damaged and will continue to be damaged by Defendant

Central City’s violations of Title II of the ADA.

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(CCT’s Violations of Title III of the ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 12181, et seq.)

64. Plainitff realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations set forth in this

Complaint as fully set forth herein.

65. Title III of the ADA prohibits discrimination “on the basis of disability in the full

and equal enjoyment of the goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages, or accommodations

or any place of public accommodation . . . .”  42 U.S.C. 12182(a).

66. Title III of the ADA generally prohibits discrimination “directly, or through

contractual, licensing or other arrangements” which is defined to include the denial of

participation, participation in unequal benefit, and opportunity to participate in programs or

activities that are not separate or different.  See generally 42 U.S.C. § 12182(b)(1).

67. With specific reference to fixed route public transportation systems, “[n]o

individual shall be discriminated against on the basis of disability in the full and equal enjoyment

of specified public transportation services provided by a private entity that is primarily engaged

in the business of transporting people and whose operations affect commerce.”  42 U.S.C. §

12184(a).
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68. Discrimination specifically includes:

the purchase or lease by such entity of a new vehicle (other than an automobile, a
van with a seating capacity of less than 8 passengers, including the driver, or an
over-the-road bus) which is to be used to provide specified public transportation
and for which a solicitation is made after [August 25, 1990], that is not readily
accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities, including individuals
who use wheelchairs . . . .

42 U.S.C. § 12184(a)(b)(3); 49 C.F.R. 37.103(b).

69. Defendant CCT is a private entity.  42 U.S.C. § 12181(6).

70. Defendant CCT is primarily engaged in the business of transporting people.

71. Defendant CCT operates the Central City Free Ride, pursuant to a contract with

Defendant Central City, on a fixed route system.  See 42 U.S.C. § 12181(4).

72. As set forth more fully above, Defendant CCT has discriminated against, and

continues to discriminate against Ms. Culpepper and other individuals with disabilities who use

wheelchairs or motorized scooters for mobility by failing to utilize its only accessible bus, by

entering into a contract with Central City that failed to ensure that both of the buses utilized in

the operation of the Central City Free Ride are readily accessible to and usable by individuals

who use wheelchairs or motorized scooters for mobility, including Ms. Culpepper, and because,

on information and belief, it stops utilizing the only accessible bus at 6:00 p.m.

73. Defendant CCT’s violations of Title III of the ADA have harmed Ms. Culpepper

and will continue to harm Ms. Culpepper in the absence of the injunction sought herein.

74. Ms. Culpepper has been damaged and will continue to be damaged by Defendant

CCT’s violations of Title III of the ADA.
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THIRSD CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(CCT’s Violations of the CADA, Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-34-601, et seq.)

75. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all allegations set forth in this

Complaint as fully set forth herein.

76. Under the CADA:

It is a discriminatory practice and unlawful for a person, directly or indirectly, to
refuse, withhold from, or deny to an individual or a group, because of disability    
. . . the full and equal enjoyment of the goods, services, facilities, privileges,
advantages, or accommodations of a place of public accommodation[.]

Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-34-601(2).

77. Pursuant to the implementing state regulations, the CADA is “substantially

equivalent to Federal law, as set forth in the Americans With Disabilities Act. . . .”  3 CO ADC

708-1:60.1(B).  The regulations further provide that “[w]henever possible, the interpretation of

state law concerning disability shall follow the interpretations established in Federal regulations

adopted to implement the Americans with Disabilities Act . . . and in the Federal case law

interpreting the Americans with Disabilities Act . . . .”  3 CO ADC 708-1:60.1(C).

78. As set forth above, Defendants have violated the CADA by discriminating

against, and continuing to discriminate against Ms. Culpepper and other individuals with

disabilities who use wheelchairs or motorized scooters for mobility by failing to utilize its only

accessible bus, by entering into a contract with Central City that failed to ensure that both of the

buses utilized in the operation of the Central City Free Ride are readily accessible to and usable

by individuals who use wheelchairs or motorized scooters for mobility, including Ms.
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Culpepper, and because, on information and belief, it stops utilizing the only accessible bus at

6:00 p.m.

79. Defendant CCT’s violations of the CADA have harmed Ms. Culpepper and will

continue to harm Ms. Culpepper in the absence of the injunction sought herein.

80. Ms. Culpepper has been damaged and will continue to be damaged by Defendant

CCT’s violations of the CADA.

81. Any person who violates Section 24-34-601 “shall forfeit and pay a sum of not

less than fifty dollars nor more than five hundred dollars to the person aggrieved thereby . . . .” 

Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-34-602(1).

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully prays:

1. That this Court assume jurisdiction;

2. that this Court issue an injunction ordering Defendants to comply with the ADA

and the CADA;

3. that this Court award monetary damages to Ms. Culpepper to the maximum extent

permitted;

4. that this Court award Ms. Culpepper’s reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs; and 

5. that this Court award such additional or alternative relief as may be just, proper

and equitable.

JURY DEMAND:  Plaintiff requests a trial to the Court.
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Dated: August 23, 2011 Respectfully submitted,

 /s/ Andrew C. Montoya  
                                                                   Kevin W. Williams

Andrew C. Montoya
Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition
655 Broadway, Suite 775
Denver, CO 80203
Telephone:  (303) 839-1775
Facsimile: (303) 839-1782
E-mail: kwilliams@ccdconline.org
E-mail: amontoya@ccdconline.org

                                            
Attorneys for Plaintiff

Address of Plaintiff Ruby Elaine Culpepper:

2868 S. Heather Gardens Way, Apt. 201
Aurora, Colorado 80014
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